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The Rev. Takie Okumura
Founder of Makiki Christian Church
1865-1951
Photo by Senda of Lihue, 1938

Acknowledgements: Thanks to Dr. Mark Wilson, Dr. Patsy Saiki and Gaylord Kubota for
reading the manuscript, making corrections and giving valuable suggestions to improve the
story of Makiki Christian Church. Cover photo by Fames S. Miura— Masuo Ogoshi

SEVENTY-FIVE YEARS AGO, on April 8, 1904, Makiki Christian
Church was organized by the Rev. Takie Okumura, Assistant Pastor Kame-
taro Maeda and 24 earnest believers." The Rev. Okumura had arrived in
Hawaii ten years earlier in July 1894, when he was 29 years old. He had a
three-year contract to work for the Hawaiian Board among early Japanese
immigrants to the Hawaiian kingdom.t He served as assistant pastor of
Nuuanu Congregational Church for a year, then became the pastor, succeed-
ing the Rev. Jiro Okabe. In seven years, the membership of the church
increased from 93 to 308, and the church became financially independent.

God led the Rev. Okumura to leave Nuuanu Church in November 1902
and begin work for the Hawaiian Board, with Kametaro Maeda as assistant.
His new field included the Makiki, Manoa, Kaimuki and Waikiki districts of
Honolulu. He walked daily from his home in Nuuanu to homes in his new
field, talking in the shade of trees or in servants’ quarters, explaining Bible
texts to all who would listen. After three months, he found a shed on Kinau
Street near Piikoi which could hold 36 chairs and held his meetings there. In
February 1903 Sunday school classes were started and were recognized as the
best organized, most successful related activity of the church.

In July of that year the Aiyu Club was organized, with Kametaro Maeda
as president and 20 members attracted by the Sunday school and the evening
school classes. For 20 years, this was the club that labored mightily for the

‘Of these, Mrs. Katsu Okumura, Kakichi Yoshioka (later the Rev. Kakichi Okamoto),
Takichi Azuma, Mrs. Chiyo Azuma and Shugo Anze were already baptized; Morijiro
Morimoto, Tatsunosuke Fujii, Kichigoro Nakane, Otomatsu Kakida and Naoichi
Shinohara had transferred from other churches. Baptized July 3 were: Hidesuke Omaye,
Mrs. Masako Ozawa, Mrs. Shige Morimoto, Chokichi Maeda, Umetaro Okumura and
Bunji Tokioka; transferred were: Mrs. Kyo Ishida, Chusaburo Tajima and Mrs. Koto
Tajima. Baptized October 22 were: Kinzo Shimizu, Mrs. Shige Onishi, Kasuke
Miyamoto and Mrs. Sue Miyamoto; Kikutaro Hiruya was transferred. These were the
charter members of Makiki Christian Church.

TOn Jan. 17, 1893, Queen Liliuokalani, last reigning monarch of the Hawaiian kingdom,
was forced to step down from her throne and a provisional government was set up. For a
year and a half, efforts were made to have the U.5. annex Hawaii. When this failed, San-
ford Ballard Dole announced the inauguration of the Republic of Hawaii and proclaimed
himself president on July 4, 1894, It was into this Hawaii that the Rev. Okumura
arrived.



church, conducting meetings, visiting the sick, promoting athletic events,
publishing a magazine, acting as an employment agency and maintaining a
small library and reading room.

As women members of the Aiyu club increased, they separated and
formed the Fujin (women’s) Aiyu Club, with Mrs. Sute Yamamoto as presi-
dent.

Meanwhile, the shed on Kinau Street had become too small to hold all
who came to hear the gospel message, so a little cottage across the street was
rented.” It was large enough to accommodate 70 to 80 persons. It was in this
cottage that the Rev. Okumura organized Makiki Christian Church, joining
the company of 100 or more Congregational churches in Hawaii.

MISSIONARIES COME TO HAWAII

Congregationalism came to the islands when two ministers, one physi-
cian, two teachers, a printer and a farmer and their wives, and four young
Hawaiians sailed for Hawaii from Boston Harbor on the brig Thaddeus on
October 23, 1819, They reached Kailua, Kona, Hawaii, in April 1820. King
Kamehameha II (Liholiho) had, in November 1819, decreed that Hawaiians
should no longer worship the Hawaiian pantheon, and the kingdom was offi-
cially without a religion. Into this spiritual void appeared the Congregational
missionaries. ¥

They were allowed to carry on their work, which they did with such zeal
that by 1840, their churches had more than 20,000 members. So successful
were the missionaries that, in June 1863, the financial support for their work
was taken off the shoulders of the American Board of Commissioners for
Foreign Missions and placed on those of the Hawaiian Evangelical Associ-
ation, with the Hawaiian Board as its executive arm.

The immigration of workers for the sugar plantations presented the
Hawaiian Board with new opportunities for evangelism. Chinese, Portuguese,
Japanese and later Filipinos came in large numbers.

The first contingent of Japanese immigrants— 148 men, women and
children—arrived in Hawaii in 1868 during the reign of King Kamehameha
V on the sailing ship Scioto, under three-year contracts to work for $4 a month.
Then there were no more immigrants from Japan for 17 years.

In 1885, a group of 944 Japanese arrived in Hawaii on the City of Tokio,
on three-year contracts to work for $9 2 month. From then until mid-1894,
came 29,032 others. These were followed during the next six years by 40,208
under private contract to “immigration companies.” In seven years following
the annexation of Hawaii by the United States, 40,000 Japanese arrived.

In 1907, a so-called Gentlemen’s Agreement was signed by the United
States and Japan and immigration was halted. Even so, “picture brides” were
allowed to enter as immediate family members.

‘From the records of the Hawaiian Board: “*That a house be rented on Kinau St. for
church purposes for the Japanese living in that vicinity. Rental $25.25 a month —Mrs.
Mary Castle to give 10.00, the Japanese to raise 6.25 and the Hawn. Board to aid 10.00 a
month and 10.00 for alterations on condition that the Japanese give a collection during

the years to the Am. Board and the Hawn. Board. This was granted.”

tThere were 24 missionary companies in all up to 1894, with a total of 50 missionaries,
27 laymen and 94 women.

This building was
erecled in 1905 at Kinau
and Pensacola Streets,
Honolulu, to house the
newly organized Makiki
Christian Church.

Dr. C.M. Hyde, secretary of the Hawaiian Board, felt the need to minister
to the Japanese entering the kingdom. First of his helpers was Doshisha stu-
dent Kenjiro Aoki, who arrived and began holding weekly services in the
YMCA hall, with 12 or more in attendance. Meetings were held also at Queen
Emma Hall, corner of Nuuanu Avenue and Beretania Street, Honolulu. A
Sunday school, with J.E. Bidwell as principal, and an evening Bible class and
an English night school, with Harriet Castle Coleman as instructor, were
started. The consul general of Japan, Taro Ando, praised these activities,
brought his family and the consular staff to worship services and helped by
interpreting sermons. Taizo Shimizu was called by Central Union Church
from San Francisco to help in the ministry.

The Hawaiian Board sought help from California, where the Methodists
were active. In 1887, the Rev. Kanichi Miyama came, took charge of the
Honolulu church, and sent five helpers to the neighbor islands. The following
year, he baptized Consul General Taro Ando, his wife Fumiko, Toshiro
Fujita, Shinzaburo Ban, Chiyokitsu Niikuni, Tomizo Tsuchiya, Shunko
Tsuchiya, Kiyozo Kawasaki, Tosaku Takasugi and Masayuki Ban, first
Japanese to be baptized in Hawaii.

While the Rev. Miyama was busy in Honolulu, Hilo had its Rev. Jiro
Okabe, who arrived from San Francisco in 1888 and began his work for the
Hawaiian Board. In 1891, he organized what is today’s Church of the Holy
Cross.

In September 1891, the Methodists withdrew from the Hawaiian mission,
leaving the work to the Congregationalists, and Miyama returned to Califor-
nia.

Jiro Okabe was called from Hilo to Honolulu to fill the breach and
became pastor of what later became Nuuanu Congregational Church. Some
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Kindergarten building on the opposite corner from the church
would today be called a day care center. When it was built in 1914,
mothers could leave their children there while they worked to make
ends meet.

of the members preferred to hold on to their Methodist membership and
organized the Japanese Methodist Church, which became today’s Harris
United Methodist Church. It was to the Nuuanu church that the Rev.
Okumura went just after his graduation from Doshisha University. There he
served seven years before he began the work that was to culminate in the
Makiki Christian Church of today.

The cottage on Kinau Street, housing the newly organized church, was
soon bursting at the seams with activity. Records of the Hawaiian Board show
that on Aug. 4, 1905, the proposition was made that a lot on the corner of Pen-
sacola and Kinau Streets be purchased for $2,100. Philanthropist George P.
Castle paid for the 10,000 square foot lot. A new church building to accommo-
date up to 400 persons was erected on it by Lewers & Cooke. Services were
first held in it in September 1905. The Hawaiian Board actively helped the
church in all matters concerning the financing of the building.”

The first ten years of Makiki were years of activity and growth. By 1914,
the church had become self-supporting, and membership soared.

To celebrate the tenth anniversary, the two Aiyu Clubs obtained 26,000
square feet of land catercorner to the church and built on it a kindergarten
building, an apartment type building and four cottages. The kindergarten
was the project of the Fujin Aiyu Club.¥ It obtained the services of an
experienced teacher, Takeno Hayataki. Three years later, Tomeko [wama
took over, and the kindergarten was on its way.

By 1918, the Sunday school department had established branches in

“In his writings, the Rev. Okumura acknowledged the aid of many friends in the Ameri-
can community who helped him in his work through the years: A.C. Alexander, Frank C.
Atherton, Joseph B. Atherton, W.W. Bowen, George R. Carter, George P. Castle,
William R. Castle, Harriet Castle Coleman, C.M. Cooke, Richard A. Cooke, Joseph
Cooke, Samuel Damon, O.P. Emerson, Walter F. Frear, O.H. Gulick, Curtis P. laukea,
P.C. Jones, Albert F. Judd, F.J. Lowrey, L. Tenney Peck, Theodore Richards, Doremus
Scudder, Frank Scudder, O.P. Soares, E.I. Spalding, Henry Waterhouse, William D.
Westervelt, Elsie Wilcox, Mable Wilcox and many others.

TThe club has had a long history of service for the church. Now called the Fujinkai,
incumbent president is Tama Takasaki.
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Moiliili, Manoa and Waikiki. Bunji Tokioka served at Moiliili for 14 years.
Other who served in the branch schools were: Umetaro Okumura, Sojiro Aoki
and Kumataro Yoshioka. A branch kindergarten was started in the Pawaa dis-
trict in 1924 by the Fujin Aiyu Club, filling a long-felt need.

On April 8, 1929, during the celebration of the church’s twenty-fifth
anniversary, members laid plans for building a larger church. A site contain-
ing 100,000 square feet of land about six blocks makai of the old one was
obtained in 1930 for $40,000. Times were not favorable for any new project
requiring money. The financial depression following the stock market crash of
1929 was on, and it had to be assumed that it would be difficult to raise money
for anything.

But the Rev. Okumura had unbounded faith in God, and plans were laid
to build a church in the form of a Japanese castle. Architect Hego Fuchino
drew up the plans after studying over 100 photographs and drawings of
Japanese castles collected by the Rev. Okumura. These were presented before
the Hawaiian Board to get its approval for a campaign to raise funds. Some
members of the Board were not enthusiastic about the project. They ques-
tioned the propriety of modeling the church edifice after a castle. Peace is the
cornerstone of Christianity, they said, and a church should not have any
touch of militarism about it.

The reply of the Rev. Okumura was that the castle in feudal Japan was a
stronghold” to maintain peace and order in the country. In November 1560,
when Hisahide Matsunaga, a Christian feudal lord, erected his Tamon Castle
at Shikisan, Yamato province, he called the five-story tower fenshukaku, or a
place to worship the Lord of Heaven, or the Christian God. The castle,
therefore, was the first structure erected in Japan for worshipping God.

A CASTLE OF THE LORD

When he heard this explanation, Dr. Theodore Richards, a member of
the Board said to the Rev. Okumura, “Unlike most Japanese who tend to
throw overboard everything Japanese and imitate all things American when
they become Christians, you try to preserve the good heritage of the Japanese
and Christianize it.” The Board endorsed the new plans for Makiki Christian
Church and voted unanimously to lend its support to the project.

Despite the depression, then at its worst in 1931, enough money was col-
lected to build the high tower, chapel and foyer, leaving for some future date
the building of the social hall and Sunday school classrooms. The very first
contributor was a young member who went to see the Rev. Okumura and
said, “I have a $300 Christmas savings account. I want to contribute it all to
your work.” That $300 donation began the drive for $30,000.

The Wilcox sisters of Lihue, Kauai, each sent a check for $2,500. An
accompanying letter from one of them said, “I want to congratulate you for
your many records of achievement for Christian churches in Hawaii. For our
religious and educational works, you have truly served most unselfishly. We
are always looking up to you as a leader among the Japanese. With this little

‘The Bible speaks of God as ‘““my fortress’’ (Ps. 18.2, 31.3, 62.02, 71.3, 91.2, 144.2; 2
Sam. 22.2); as a “‘strong tower” [Ps. 61.3, Prov. 18.10); as a “‘high tower” (Is. 2.15); as
my ‘‘strong-hold and my refuge”’ (2 Sam. 22.3, Jer. 16.19).



contribution, we want to show our appreciation for your years of service to
our community.”

In response to a phone call one morning, the Rev. Okumura went to a
downtown office where a clerk handed him an envelope from a contributor
who wished to share in the building of the church in appreciation of his years
of unselfish work. “If you must mention her name in your report,” the clerk
said, “just say that it’s from a friend.” He thanked her and left; later he was
surprised to discover that the donation was $2,000.

Dr. William D. Westervelt and Dr. Theodore Richards, long-time friends
of the Rev. Okumura, backed him up with funds, advice and encouragement.
It was Dr. Richards who, when it seemed that donations were lagging and
much time would be lost, impatiently told the Rev. Okumura to go ahead
with the builidng of the chapel: he would personally guarantee that the bal-
ance of the money would be forthcoming.

Members of the church gave sacrificially and many friends donated
liberally so that the raising of funds was actually the easier part of the build-
ing program.

T. Takahashi was the contractor chosen to build the church. The first
phase of construction was limited to the tower and the chapel in the right
wing of the church. The framework was erected entirely of steel, from bottom
to top, and included crosspieces under the second floor weighing four tons
apiece. A U.S. Navy technician from Pearl Harbor Navy Yard was asked to
assist in hoisting and securing them into place. So solidly built is the frame-
work that even if the building became infested with termites or burned down,
the framework would remain intact.

In the Far East at this time, China and Japan were at war. To show that
what was happening there was not carried over to Hawaii, the Rev. Okumura
specified that all building materials be procured from K.A. Chung, better
known as C.K. Ai, president of City Mill Company. Chung reciprocated this
good will by donating materials for a complete kindergarten building.

Among the unusual features of the chapel and foyer are the 164 ceiling
panels painted and donated by the artist, Yunosuke Itow," who studied from
early childhood to become an artist. Before coming to Hawaii, he studied in
Germany, France and England, lived in Hong Kong for a year or so. The

‘He changed his name later to Yunosuke Ogura.

A few of the 164 panels in the church by Yunosuke Ogura.—Photo by Warashina
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Golden dolphin atop the castle tower, used as a Christian symbol in feudal Japan, as
a fish was during the days of the Holy Roman Empire. “lesous Christos, Theou Uios,
Soter” (Jesus Christ, God’s Son, Savior), used as an acrostic becomes ICHTHUS, the
Greek word for fish. —Photo by Wayne Warashina.

panels in the chapel are decorative pictures of fruits, flowers and vegetables.
Some in the foyer illustrate Japanese poems or proverbs. One panel of a shoe
in a melon patch admonishes us: “When you are in a melon patch, do not
stoop to tie your shoe laces” (lest you be mistaken for a melon thief). Another
of a straw hat with pears says: “In a pear orchard, do not raise your hand to
your hat” (lest you be mistaken for a pear thief).

The new church edifice was dedicated on Sunday, November 6, 1932. On
the following Sunday, more new members than usual were baptized. This was
the result of a campaign which was launched when plans for the new building
were being laid. The Rev. Okumura told the congregation that on the day the
visible temple was dedicated, it would be most desirable to dedicate to God at
the same time a large number of temples of the living spirit—that is, a large
number of new converts. Members of the church responded by praying with-
out ceasing and campaigning vigorously so that on November 13, 1932, a
total of 143 new members were dedicated to God.

Four years later, with additional funds raised in a second campaign, the
project was completed and a gala dedication ceremony held on December 30,
1936. It marked the realization of the Rev. Okumura’s dreams for Makiki.

Early in November, he had become ill and was bedridden for a full
month. His heart condition was accompanied by a fever. Despite his physi-
cian’s efforts, the fever persisted, and the doctor had all but given up. Death
seemed near. Then on the evening of December 2, the fever subsided, and on
the morning of the 3rd, he felt fine. Sumi Ikeda, the church’s mission worker,
dropped by and told him, “At last night’s prayer meeting, we all prayed for
your recovery. Of the 47 persons present, 36 stood up and prayed for you.”
Then he told her how his fever had gone down the night before. Their hearts
were stirred as they fell on their knees and thanked God for his everlasting
love.

A year later, the Rev. Takie Okumura retired as pastor and was made
pastor emeritus. As such, he continued to be an active member, preached a



sermon each month, and had time to engage in much community work for 14
years until his death in 1951.

The ministry of the Rev. Okumura at Makiki was a long, distinguished
one, from April 1904 to November 1937. But it was in his extra-curricular
activities that he came in touch with thousands of persons not connected with
the church.

On the evening of his first day in Honolulu, he saw a group of prostitutes
from Japan at the corner of Pauahi and Nuuanu streets, learned that there
were some 200 of them in the city. Later he wrote, “I felt piercing shame and
then and there resolved to help clean up the evil and wipe out my country’s
shame.” Against this social evil he worked for years, facing many personal
dangers.

Other activities: establishment of a Japanese language school (30 pupils,
one teacher: Hideo Kuwabara who had himself started a Japanese language
school at a plantation village a few years earlier); organization of the Japanese
Y.M.C.A. of Honolulu, 1900; operation of a boys’ home and later a girls’
home; reactivation of the Japanese Benevolent Society and the erection of the
first Japanese Hospital at Kapalama in 1900 (moved two years later to Liliha,
then to its present location on Kuakini Street, 1918), and revival of the
Japanese Temperance Society.

He also served as secretary-treasurer of the Prince Fushimi Memorial
Scholarship Fund; carried on for years an educational campaign among the
other Japanese laborers on all islands “to make them think and act from the
American point of view” and to encourage their children to become loyal
American citizens and expatriate themselves from Japanese citizenship. In
1927, he called the first annual conference of New Americans, an Ameri-
canization program that had far-reaching effects. There were in all 15 con-
ferences.

During the years of his ministry at Nuuanu and Makiki, the Rev.
Okumura wrote many books and pamphlets, edited a newspaper and several
magazines.

The Rev. Chiyokichi Furuta succeeded him, serving until June 1952. He
was followed by the Rev. Toraji Makino, May 1953 to April 1954; Dr. Hiroshi
Hatanaka, April 1954 to March 1957; the Rev. Makino again, April to Octo-
ber 1957; the Rev. Sadaichi Kuzuhara, November 1957 to September 1959;
the Rev. Junro Kashitani, November 1960 until he died in August 1962; the
Rev. Tadao Hara, January 1963 to April 1965; the Rev. Shinpei Higuchi,
April 1966 to March 1974.

Members of the Nichigobu (Japanese language department) seemed to
have begun to think of work on their behalf as a caretaker ministry, serving
the older members as their numbers slowly decreased. The Rev. Philip K.
Tsuchiya arrived in August 1975, saw the state of affairs, and proceeded to
make changes. He encouraged Nichigobu members to spend time in daily
devotions and to feel and show their love for one another. There was a weekly
“love feast” following the Sunday worship service and monthly koinonia
meetings in believers’ homes. The prayer meetings grew in attendance until in
three years there were just as many people out on Wednesday evenings as
there used to be on Sunday mornings before he came.

To celebrate the 75th anniversary, the Nichigobu members are working
to bring 75 new members into the church.
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THE ENGLISH-SPEAKING CONGREGATION

Makiki Christian Church began as a Japanese church. What is now the
English-speaking congregation began as the Sunday school. Classes began at
9 a.m., and were followed by a worship service at 10:45 a.m. Hymns were sung
in English, but the scripture lessons, prayers and sermons were in Japanese.
The Rev. Okumura spoke at the services for both the nisei in the morning and
the issei at their worship service at 8 p.m." Sunday school superintendents
were usually from the haole community, like Dr. Frank Scudder and William
Pietsch, and they would be called on to speak from time to time.

About 1918, a junior church was organized, and one of its committees had
the task of finding speakers every week. From that time, sermons in English
became the general rule. Activities related to moving into a new church build-
ing in 1933 and the baptism of 40 young men and women a week after its
dedication gave the English-speaking department new life. So did the
organizing of the Torchbearers’ Fellowship in 1942 by Harold and Kishiyo
Kawano. In 1945, Peter McKnight was appointed licentiate preacher. The
first associate pastor, to work mainly with the English-speaking congregation,
was the Rev. Paul Morimoto, who served from March 1946 to September
1948.

He was succeeded by the Rev. Chester Terpstra, who served until Octo-
ber 1949, then answered the call to become an educational and evangelistic
missionary of the American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions,
Micronesia Mission, Ponape station, in the Caroline Islands. His successor,
the Rev. Dwight Niswander, served until August 1953. From that date until
the Rev. Paul M. Nagano arrived in March 1954 to succeed him, the Rev.
William Steeper was supply pastor.

TRANSITION IN THE CHURCH

Great changes in the life of a church come by imperceptible degrees so
that even those who are close to things are often unaware of them. So it was at
Makiki.

Since the founding of the church in 1904, the issei congregation had
shouldered the church’s financial burden, set its policies, made all decisions
and carried them out. The shifting of administrative responsibility from the
shoulders of the issei to those of the English-speaking members came over the
years, by a series of small adjustments from time to time and changes here and
there. The church moved forward, never settling down to rest, always read-
justing and working in harmony.

When the Rev. Nagano became associate pastor, there were two standing
committees: one for the Japanese-speaking congregation, another for the
English-speaking congregation, with a board of deacons, a board of trustees
and a finance board on which both congregations were represented. Over all
sat the church board with representatives from both congregations, presided
over by the senior pastor. (Continued on page 14)

‘Many members in the early days served as cooks and maids in haole homes and worked
on Sundays so it was most convenient to meet at church in the evening. World War II
changed that. Meetings could not be held during black-out hours so the Nichigobu ser-
vices were held at 2 p.m. Now they are held at 11 a.m.
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MAKIKI CHRISTIAN CHURCH

THE REV. TED OGOSHI, Pastor

Born May 1, 1929, in Honolulu,
Hawaii.

B.A. in English literature, University
of Hawaii, 1951.

M. Div., Fuller Theological Seminary,
1957. Graduate studies in pastoral counsel-
ing at Andover Newton Theological
School, 1957-1958. Doctoral candidate,
San Francisco Theological Seminary.

Married Shizuko Sasaki, August 12,
1955,

Children: Kathleen, John, Richard,
Darlene.

Pastoral ministries: Monrovia Holiness Church; minister to international
students in Boston through Park Street Church, 1957-1958; Kailua Christian
Church, 1957; Kaimuki Evangelical church, 1958-1965; Makiki Christian
Church, 1966 to the present time.

Member, Executive Council of the United Church of Christ; Board of
Directors of the Hawaii Theological Consortium.

Pastor Ogoshi’s focus is on the relationships of Christians in the Body of
Christ, with emphasis on small groups. He sees this growing out of a disciple-
ship to Jesus Christ and, in turn, leading to a discovery of spiritual gifts to be
used in God’s love for the world.

THE REV. PHILIP K. TSUCHIYA,
Japanese Language Pastor

Born March 30, 1932, in Gunma
prefecture, Japan.

B.A. in International Relations, Tokyo
University of Foreign Affairs, 1957.

M. Div., Fuller Theological Seminary,
1973. M.A. in Missiology, School of World
Mission and Institute of Church Growth,
Fuller Theological Seminary, 1974.

Married Yoshie Hara, January 27,
1962.

Children: Paul Takehiko and Joy
Miki.
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Evangelistic and Pastoral Ministries: Served as an evangelist and radio
pastor across denominational lines in Japan; participated in major city-wide
evangelistic crusades and international conferences on mission in Asia,
U.S.A., and Europe, 1953-1979; Japanese language pastor, Makiki Christian
Church from 1975 to the present time.

Member, Asian Evangelists Commission, Vice-president of the Council
of Japanese Christian Churches in Hawaii.

Pastor Tsuchiya’s focus is on discipling men and women with emphasis
on three-fold commitments, namely, 1) to Christ, 2) to his people, and 3) to his
mission. It is his passion and prayer to help Makiki become a strong mission-
ary center in the Pacific with world vision and outreach.

THE REV. PHILIP MARK, Youth Pastor

Born July 12, 1947, in Seattle, Wa-
shington.

B.A. in Economics, 1969, Uni-
versity of Hawaii. M. Div., 1973,
Fuller Theological Seminary.

Married Adrienne Lee, December
27, 1970.

Children: Kristin Sze-Chen, Shannon
Keone.

Youth worker at True Light Presbyte-
rian Church, 1971-73; youth pastor at

Makiki Christian Church from 1973. Secretary for the committee to replace
the Hawaii Conference minister; Oahu Association Board of Directors, class
of 1980; HCUCC UH Manoa campus ministry advisory board 1977 to pre-
sent.

Pastor Mark’s focus is on helping to mobilize the God-given talents of lay
persons so that all members of the church may become more effective “salt”
and “light” in Hawaii, able to make a significant difference wherever they are.
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MAKIKI CHRISTIAN CHURCH PRESCHOOL

SUMAKO MURAKAMI, Director

Born October 12, 1927, at Kona,
Hawaii.

B.A. in Japanese, 1976, University of
Hawaii.

Married Tooru Frank Murakami,
April 14, 1951.

Children: Wilson, Joy.

Teacher, Makiki Christian Church
Preschool, 1969-78. Director of the pre-
school from January 1, 1979.

Since the United Nations has set 1979 aside as the Year of the Child and
1979 is the 75th anniversary of the church, Director Murakami’s focus will be
to do something very special for our children, such as giving scholarships to
needy ones in the community and improving the quality of life for our
children through parent education.

(Continued from page 11)

When Makiki became 50 years old, changes accelerated. For some time,
the issei membership had remained static while the English-speaking mem-
berhsip continued to increase steadily. The day was coming when the latter
would be bearing the larger share of the financial burden and would be given
greater responsibility and more authority in the affairs of Makiki.

The 50th anniversary celebration of the founding of the church began
with a tea-and-coffee hour fellowship on April 4, 1954 to greet old and new
friends. Special evangelistic services were held from April 5 to 8, with the
Rev. Nagano speaking each night. On April 11, there was an installation ser-
vice for Dr. Hiroshi Hatanaka and the Rev. Nagano.

At the beginning of his third year at Makiki, the Rev. Nagano became
pastor, and the Rev. Makino of the issei congregation became the associate
pastor in belated recognition by the issei of the fact that the time had come to
pass the torch to the new generation.

Increasing emphasis was placed on the work of the English-speaking con-
gregation. To ease the burden of the work load on the paster, the Rev.
William Y. Tamagi was called from Canada in June 1955 to become assistant
pastor. When still more help was needed, the Rev. Richard Nishicka was
called to serve as minister of Christian education beginning in November
1958. He served until 1964.
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CHRISTIAN EDUCATION BUILDING

The greatest undertaking during the Rev. Nagano’s tenure as pastor was
the erection of the Christian Education building. There had been a growing
need for more Sunday school classrooms, a need which became truly acute by
1956. Classes were meeting in a bus, a quonset hut, the church kitchen, a
balcony, two dirt-floor garages and under trees.

Clifford F. Young, A.LLA., was chosen as architect. The lowest bid of
$311,534 was submitted by T. Takahashi, Ltd., the same contracting firm that
had built the original castle church in 1932 and 1936.

The ground-breaking ceremony was held in November 1959. Almost a
year later, on November 20, 1960, the building was completed and dedicated.

To finance the structure, the church employed the services of Kirby-
Smith Associates, who obtained $150,000 in pledges to be paid over a 40-
month period. Pledges were renewed until the building was completely paid
for, and a mortgage-burning banquet was held at the Ala Moana banquet hall
on November 24, 1968.

Even before the building was completed, an elementary school was
started in September 1960 with classes from kindergarten to third grade. The
first teachers were: Yuri Takazawa and Geralding Lee, joined later by
Florence Watanabe and Harriet Hobaugh. The school was in operation for
two years, long enough for the church to learn valuable lessons in the econo-
mics of running a school.

During the Rev. Nagano’s ministry, active membership rose from 200 to
500, and the church’s budget increased from $33,000 in 1954 to $156,000 in
1961, with the missions budget increasing from $1,700 to $29,000. A branch
mission was established in Kailua. This is now the Kailua Christian Church.

The Rev. Nagano served at Makiki until July 1962, when he was suc-
ceeded by Associate Pastor William Tamagi, who served until June 1963. Tt
was during his term that, at a general membership meeting on March 31,
1963, it was voted to merge with the United Church of Christ, the national
body formed, 1957, by the merger of the Evangelical and Reformed Church
and the Congregational Christian Chuches.

NEW DIRECTIONS

The Rev. Dr. Chester Terpstra, former pastor of Makiki, returned to
serve from September 1963 to August 1969. He left to become general secre-
tary and conference minister of the Hawaii Conference, United Church of
Christ.

During his ministry, the congregation became more aware of the com-
munity in which it existed. Out of one of its study nights, an idea was planted
which resulted in the formation of the Central Honolulu Community Associ-
ation, linking educators, businessmen, professionals and residents in a com-
mon effort for a sound Makiki district.

A church facility that serves the larger community, the Makiki Christian
Church Preschool, opened its doors on January 5, 1965, to 15 children, with
Eiko Hew Len as teacher and Margery Terpstra as director.

In September 1966, in its first full year, 75 children were enrolled. Lela
Morgan became director; and teachers were Kishiyo Kawano, Mae
Kuboyama, Lela Morgan and Eiko Hew Len. A class was added in November,
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Preschoolers at Makiki listen as teacher tells a stor);'. Front row, left to right: Kelly
Ann Ota, Wendy Katsumoto, Kristy Tamashiro. In the back: Ryuji Arimoto, Allison
Liefer.—Photo by Bert Komenaka

with Charlene Honda as teacher. The two assistants were Amy Takehara and
Trudy Morikawa.

Eiko Hew Len served as director until June 1978, after which time
Kishiyo Kawano was acting director until December 1978. Director today is
Sumako Murakami. Teachers are: Sumako Murakami, Kishiyo Kawano, June
Fujimoto and Laurel Soon. Assistant is Helen Farias, and there are two
teacher’s aides: Gareth Au and Susan Aea.

In August 1967 the Makiki Christian Counseling Center was opened
with Dr. Doman Lum, director, serving as a part-time member of the church

Makiki's Sunday school and a sprinkling of members of the issei congregation about
1917, 1. Hatsu (Mrs. Umetaro) Okumura, 2. Masayuki Tokioka, 3. William Morimoto, 4.
Nobuji Wada, 5. Toru Kawamoto, 6. Shinji Maruyama, 7. Jisoo Sanjume, 8. David
Takeuchi, 9. Masaichi Yanagihara, 10. George Ohara, 11. Masao Goto, 12. Tsutomu
Yoshizawa, 13. Tomijiro Togashi, 14. Albert Nobu, 15. The Rev. Takie Okumura, 16.
Francis Koga, 17. Kiyoshi Yoshizumi, 18. Nagata, 19, Kumataro Yoshioka, 20. Umetaro
Okumura, 21. Osaki, 22. The Rev. Donald Fujiyoshi, 23. George Betsui, 24. Juichi
Okabe, 25. Richard Betsui, 26. Sadaichi Okimoto, 27, Ichiro Kimura, 28. Giichi Sato, 29.
Yone Yoshioka, 30. Mikiyo Nakashima Hirano, 31. Flora Nakatsuji Yanagihara, 32.

staff. The center was initially conceived as an extension of pastoral care and
related to the healing ministry of the church. Dr. Lum served until 1972, at
which time Dr. Margery Terpstra became director, serving full-time without
compensation. Others who served at the center were: Dr. Soon Hyung
Chung, Dr. Melvin Hugen and May Horio.

On September 20, 1973, at 6:30 p.m., the center presented the first pro-
gram of the weekly half-hour Christian Family Forum over radio station
KAIM.

Dr. Margery Terpstra is now in private practice and the center is no
longer in operation, but during its ten years or so of activity, it exerted a heal-
ing, stabilizing influence, always from a Christian perspective, on many lives.

Dr. Chester Terpstra was succeeded as pastor in 1969 by the Rev. Ted
Ogoshi, who had been associate pastor since 1966. Reg. C. Bradley served as
youth ministries coordinator from 1970 to 1972, and the Rev. Philip Mark
became youth pastor in 1973.

The church has produced from among its members many who became
pastors: the Rev. Messrs. Sojiro Aoki, Edward Asato, Chris Eng, George M.
Fujita, Wallace Fukunaga, Kenneth Iha, Henry T. Ishimura, Roland
Kawano, Kenneth Kiyuna, Kametaro Maeda, Lawrence Mamiya, Ronald
Nagata, Ted Ogoshi, Tadayoshi Oho, Kakichi Okamoto, Umetaro Okumura,
Masataro Shigematsu, Jiro Shiroma, Royden Susumago, James Tanabe,
Masayoshi Wakai, Masao Yamada, Nario Yamada and Kumataro Yoshioka.

Others have served as assistant pastors or helpers: the Rev. Messrs. Kaku
Imai, Matsutaro Iwama, Mitsuaki Kakehi, Kumajiro Kimura, Ray Kusumoto,
Ichiro Takahashi and Shigeki Yamaoka. Bible women have been: Sumi Ikeda,

Fumi Betsui, 33. Suzuko Yamamoto Tatsumi, 34. Hisa Shinoda Ando, 35. Sumi Ikeda, 36.
Ayako Yamamoto Yonemura, 37. Shizue Iwamura O’'Day, 38. Kaneyo Hamamoto, 39,
Hatsue Kanda, 40. Kenneth Nagata, 41. Yoshinobu Uyeno, 42. Howard Kurio, 43, Torao
Kimura, 44. Umataro Muramaru, 45. Kazuichi Hirano, 46. Masuo Ogoshi, 47. Tat-
sunosuke Fujii, 48. Seisuke Fujioka, 49. Albert Mataki Okumura, 50. Kichitaro
Yabusaki, 51. Organist Kiyoshi Maedako, 52. Itsuki Kodama, 53. Soichi Sakamoto, 54.
Kazu Watanabe, 55. just above 22, Kiyoshi Fukushima. If you can identify others in this
photograph or correct the identification as printed here, please write to the church.



Julia Motoyama, Katherine Yasuhara. And there have been missionaries:
Henry and Lorraine Ayabe, June Fujimoto, Tamie Kawashima, Mildred
Kiyuna, Julia Motoyama, Brad and Becky Smith, Edward and Katherine
Yasuhara.

For the last nine years or more, one of the major emphases of Makiki has
been on koinonia which took the shape of covenant groups, prayer partners,
Bible studies, support groups of various types. Of all the instruments operat-
Jing in the church today, small groups are proving to be one of the most impor-
tant, most effective ways by which God’s grace is communicated and taught.
Members are learning the importance of daily communication with God.

The year 1979 will be celebrated as the church’s 75th birthday. The Rev.
Ogoshi said on January 28:

On this annual meeting date of our 75th anniversary
year, God’s rule is still fresh and powerful.

I see for us this year a fresh outpouring of God’s Spirit.

I see God leading us into a deeper discipleship with fesus
Christ.

I see God revealing himself in glory. He will do things
that are more than just the results of our human planning
and our human efforts. He will leave unmistakable evidence
of his presence imprinted on our corporate life as we obey his
leading.

I see God gathering us into mission groups, evoking
spiritual gifts he had planted in us, holding us accountable

for the gospel he has given us.

God’s kingdom is at hand!

Photos of Pastors Ogoshi and Mark and Preschool Director Murakami on pages 12,
13 and 14, and of building detail, opposite, by Bert Komenaka. He also did the montage
for the back cover.
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